FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON PAIS
4/19/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK
PM

Supreme Court No. 101913-1 Court of Appeals No. 83078-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CORONUS XES LTD. AND MATTHEW AARSVOLD,

Petitioners,

v.

CERTAIN UNDERWRITERS AT LLOYD'S, LONDON, SUBSCRIBING TO POLICY NO. ESG00317241 with Unique Market References B087517C9N5007 and B1161LS12017, an unincorporated foreign insurance syndicate,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven A. Stolle, WSBA #30807 Stolle Law Group, P.S. 321 First Avenue West Seattle, WA 98119 Telephone (206) 228-2214 sstolle@stollelawgroup.com Attorneys for Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Coronus XES, Ltd. and Matthew Aarsvold (collectively "Petitioners" or "Coronus"), plaintiffs and appellants below.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioners seek review of the decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals, filed December 27, 2022, affirming the trial court's order of dismissal for forum non conveniens. The decision is in the Appendix at A-0001-15. Petitioners moved for reconsideration, to which a response was requested and filed. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration on March 20, 2023. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is in the Appendix at A-0016.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The order granting Underwriters' motion to dismiss based on forum non conveniens was predicated on the trial court's determination on choice of law that California law applies to Petitioner's extra-contractual claims, for which

Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws, § 145 provides the analytical framework. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

Accordingly, Petitioners seek review of the following legal issues:

- 1. Whether non-Washington residents suffer injury in Washington under Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws, § 145(2)(a) by incurring the cost to defend themselves in a Washington court and pay a settlement of a Washington lawsuit to a Washington resident when their insurer wrongfully fails to defend or indemnify.
- 2. Whether the conduct causing injury to non-Washington residents sued in a Washington court occurs in Washington under Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws, § 145(2)(b) when the insurer wrongfully fails to provide its insureds a defense in Washington, which is the last act, or failure to act, necessary to make the insurer liable for breach of the duty to defend.

- 3. Whether the domicile, residence, nationality, place of incorporation and place of business of the parties under Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws, § 145(2)(c) is entitled to little weight when both the place of injury and conduct causing injury are in Washington, and the parties reside in multiple states and countries.
- 4. Whether, in determining the place where the relationship, if any, between the parties is centered under Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws, § 145(2)(d), it is legal error to construe and extend a contractual choice of law provision in an insurance policy, which by its terms applies only to contract claims, to also apply to extra-contractual claims, and thereby negate application of the Washington insurance code and CPA.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Non-Resident Petitioners are Sued in Washington.

This case arises from a lawsuit filed in King County

Superior Court, Bright Morning Consulting LLC v. Daniel C.

Webb, et al. CP 372-411. That suit did not involve Petitioners until defendant Webb filed a second amended answer and third-party complaint pleading claims against Petitioners, among others. CP 412-445.

2. The Insured Petitioners Tender Defense and Indemnity to Underwriters.

On July 12, 2018, Coronus' Seattle counsel tendered defense and indemnity to Underwriters in the U.K. CP 488-95. The policy identifies Underwriters' "claims manager" as CFC Underwriting ("CFC"). CP 464. An adjuster with CFC in the U.K. initially acknowledged the tender. CP 496. CFC then went silent, and repeated inquiries from Coronus' counsel went unanswered. CP 498-500.

Only after Coronus' counsel emailed CFC on August 28, 2018, noting CFC already had violated multiple Washington insurance claims handling regulations, was the tender referred to a California law firm, P.K. Schrieffer, LLP ("Schrieffer") for handling. CP 498, 502. After initial contact from Schrieffer, it

also became unresponsive. CP 502-76. Finally, on October 23, 2018, Schrieffer transmitted a denial of Coronus' tender. CP 577-98.

Coronus incurred several hundred thousand dollars in fees and costs defending itself in the Washington case. CP 689-92. The underlying litigation was settled on November 14, 2019, with Coronus paying \$17,500. CP 303-04.

3. The Present Insurance Bad Faith Lawsuit.

Coronus filed this case in King County Superior Court – the same court where Webb sued Coronus – on October 19, 2020, pleading claims for declaratory judgment, breach of contract, insurance bad faith, negligent claims handling, violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), and a reserved claim for violation of the Washington Insurance Fair Conduct Act ("IFCA"). CP 1-24. As alleged in the complaint, all these claims arise from Underwriters' failure to conduct a reasonable and timely investigation and its wrongful failure to defend or indemnify its insureds in the Washington

lawsuit. Id.

On May 7, 2021, Underwriters filed a motion to dismiss for forum non conveniens. CP 66. This was after Coronus conducted discovery and obtained an expert opinion of bad faith. CP 637-60, 680-81.

On June 7, 2021, the trial court granted Underwriters' motion and dismissed the case with prejudice. CP 774-76.

Coronus moved for reconsideration. CP 779-96. The trial court granted the motion in part, adding findings and ruling on choice of law, but still granted Underwriters' motion to dismiss, albeit without prejudice. CP 843-52.

Fundamental to the trial court's decision was its

determination that California law applies, not only to the

contract claims, as Coronus pleaded in its complaint, but also to

the extra-contractual claims pleaded under Washington law. <u>Id.</u>

Ostensibly applying Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws, §145, the trial court concluded that, despite incurring hundreds of thousands of dollars in legal fees in defending the

Washington lawsuit, and despite paying a small settlement in Washington to resolve the litigation, there was no injury to Coronus in Washington (§ 145(2)(a)) and the conduct causing injury did not occur in Washington (§ 145(2)(b)). CP 847; compare with CP 689-92, and CP 304. The trial court also concluded that, in conducting the most significant relationship analysis, it was proper to effectively extend the policy's contractual choice of law provision to apply to the extracontractual claims. CP 847.

Coronus appealed to Division One, which affirmed in an unpublished decision dated December 27, 2022. Appendix at A-0001-15. Coronus filed for reconsideration, which was denied on March 20, 2023. Appendix at A-0016. Coronus petitions for review pursuant to RAP 13.4.

E. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

1. Division I's Decision Conflicts with Existing Law for Determining Choice of Law for Statutory and Common Law Torts.

This Court should accept review because the decision of

the Court of Appeals conflicts with Supreme Court decisions and published decisions of the Court of Appeals regarding choice of law for statutory and common law tort claims. RAP 13.4(1) & (2). Specifically, the Court of Appeals decision failed to consider cited Supreme Court decisions holding that the conduct causing injury occurs where the last act necessary to make the defendant liable occurs. Nixon v. Cohen, 62 Wn.2d 987, 995-96, 385 P.2d 305 (1963) ("The place of the wrong is the state where the last event necessary to make an actor liable for an alleged tort takes place."); see Downing v. Losvar, 21 Wn. App. 2d 635, 654, 507 P.3d 894 (2022) (same); Harbison v. Garden Valley Outfitters, 69 Wn. App. 590, 598, 849 P.2d 669 (1993) (same). Generally, when the conduct causing injury occurs in Washington, the injury also occurs in Washington.

That is the situation in the present case. Underwriters failed to defend Coronus in a lawsuit pending in Washington (the conduct causing injury), forcing Coronus to incur the cost

of defending and settling the case itself in Washington (the place where the injury occurred). This is consistent with multiple provisions of the Restatement. See RESTATEMENT (SECOND) CONFLICT OF LAWS §§ 146 cmt. d., 156(2) cmt. b., 157(2), 159(2), and 160(2); RESTATEMENT (FIRST) CONFLICT OF LAWS, § 377. Therefore, this Court should accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

This case also involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. This case concerns insurance; specifically, performance of the insurer's duty to defend and indemnify a Washington lawsuit against non-resident insureds, who are then obliged to defend themselves in the Washington lawsuit and pay a settlement in Washington to resolve it. The availability of insurance to pay for the defense of non-resident defendants, as well as to pay any settlements or judgments eventually owed to Washington resident plaintiffs, is of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Petitioners seek review only of choice of law because reversal of that issue requires reversal of the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court's dismissal based on forum non conveniens.

2. Choice of Law for Extra-Contractual Claims.

The term "extra-contractual claims" means just that: claims not brought on the contract, but common law or statutory torts. <u>Carideo v. Dell, Inc.</u>, 706 F.Supp.2d 1122, 1128 (W.D.Wash. 2010) ("Washington courts follow Restatement section 145 to determine what law applies to tort and CPA claims."), <u>citing Rice v. Dow Chem. Co.</u>, 124 Wn.2d 205, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994).

In determining the law to be applied to statutory or common law tort claims, Washington applies the "most significant relationship" analysis of the Restatement (Second) Conflict of laws § 145:

(1) The rights and liabilities of the parties with respect to an issue in tort are determined by the local law of the state which, with respect to that issue, has the most

- significant relationship to the occurrence and the parties under the principles stated in § 6.
- (2) Contacts to be taken into account in applying the principles of § 6 to determine the law applicable to an issue include:
- (a) the place where the injury occurred;
- (b) the place where the conduct causing the injury occurred;
- (c) the domicile, residence, nationality, place of incorporation, and place of business of the parties; and
- (d) the place where the relationship, if any, between the parties is centered.

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) CONFLICT OF LAWS, § 145; Johnson v.

Spider Staging Corp., 87 Wn.2d 577, 581, 555 P.2d 997 (1976).

Choice of law is reviewed de novo. Erwin v. Cotter Health Ctrs., Inc., 161 Wn.2d 676, 691, 167 P.3d 1112 (2007).

a. Washington is the place of injury for failure to defend a lawsuit in Washington.

The trial court ruled, and the Court of Appeals agreed, there was no injury to Coronus in Washington from Underwriters' failure to defend the lawsuit here. CP 847; Decision at 14.

The parties did not identify Washington state case

authority on the first factor, the place of injury, in the context of the failure to defend and indemnify under an insurance policy, though it exists in the non-insurance context. Harbison v.

Garden Valley Outfitters, 69 Wn. App. 590, 598, 849 P.2d 669

(1993) ('An injury "occurs" in Washington if the last event necessary to make the defendant liable for the alleged tort occurred in Washington.').

Instead, the parties relied upon persuasive authority from the federal Western District of Washington, applying Washington law, with the weight of authority in the Western District supporting Coronus' position. See Alaska Airlines, Inc. v. Endurance Am. Ins., No. C20-1444 TSZ, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 168046 *13, 2021 WL 4033297 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 3, 2021) (ruling injury occurred "where Alaska Airlines incurred the costs of defending itself") (citing Newmont USA Ltd. v. Am. Home Assurance Co., 676 F.Supp.2d 1146, 1163 (E.D. Wash. 2009)); Hawthorne v. Mid-Continent Cas. Co., 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119891, *11-12, 2017 WL 3237160 (W.D.

Wash. July 31, 2017) (Ruling, plaintiff's "injury occurred in Washington, where it was forced to defend against a suit as a result of Oklahoma Surety's alleged bad faith refusal to defend and indemnify."); <u>Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of Am. v. AF Evans</u> Co., No. C10-1110JCC, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 134189 *22-23 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 19, 2012); Aecon Bldgs., Inc. v. Zurich N. Am., No. C07-832-MJP, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 112747 (W.D. Wash. March 20, 2008) (ruling Washington law applied to bad faith claim because "the injury to Aecon is the denial of coverage and the settlement with the Quinault Tribe, both of which occurred Washington."); but see MKB Constructors v. Am. Zurich Ins. Co., 49 F.Supp.3d 814, 833 (W.D. Wash. 2014) (place of injury both where underlying claim litigated and in insured's home state); Milgard Mfg., Inc. v. Ill. Union Ins. Co., No. C10–5943 RJB, 2011 WL 3298912 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 1, 2011).

Here, the trial court erred as matter of law when it ruled that "no injury occurred in Washington." CP 847. Yet, the

Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding that, while the place of injury "may be a close call, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the injury did not occur in Washington." Decision at 13. Respectfully, the Court of Appeals erred both on the place of injury and the standard of review because determining the place of injury is not a discretionary ruling. As discussed in the next section regarding "conduct causing injury," the Supreme Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals hold that when the conduct causing injury occurs in Washington, the injury almost always occurs in Washington, as well. This is consistent with the presumption in multiple sections of the Restatement. See RESTATEMENT (SECOND) CONFLICT OF LAWS §§ 146 cmt. d., 156(2) cmt. b., 157(2), 159(2), and 160(2).

Accordingly, this Court should accept review to rule definitively in the context of an insurer's wrongful failure to defend a non-resident insured sued in Washington whether the injury to the insured occurs in Washington for purposes of

Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws, § 145(2)(a).

b. The Conduct Causing Injury was the Failure to Defend in Washington.

Regarding the second §145(2) contact, the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's ruling that the conduct causing injury was Underwriters' claims handling activity outside Washington, rather than the failure to defend the underlying litigation in Washington. CP 847; Decision at 14.

"The word 'tortious' is used throughout the Restatement of this Subject to denote the fact that conduct whether of act or omission is of such a character as to subject the actor to liability under the principles of the law of Torts." Nixon v. Cohen, 62

Wn.2d 987, 995-96, 385 P.2d 305 (1963) (citing RESTATEMENT, TORTS, § 6). In addition, "[t]he place of the wrong is the state where the last event necessary to make an actor liable for an alleged tort takes place." Id. (citing RESTATEMENT (FIRST)

CONFLICT OF LAWS, § 377); see In re Estate of Breese, 51

Wn.2d 302, 305, 317 P.2d 1055 (1957) ("If the insurer is obliged to defend suits brought against the insured, and an action is brought against him in this state, a refusal to defend such action would constitute a breach within this jurisdiction."); Downing v. Losvar, 21 Wn. App. 2d 635, 654, 507 P.3d 894 (2022) ("When determining whether a tortious act occurred in Washington, the court identifies the last event necessary to render the defendant liable") (citing CTVC of Hawaii Co. v. Shinawatra, 82 Wn. App. 699, 717-18 (1996); see Harbison v. Garden Valley Outfitters, 69 Wn. App. 590, 598, 849 P.2d 669 (1993) ('An injury "occurs" in Washington if the last event necessary to make the defendant liable for the alleged tort occurred in Washington.').

Here, the last act or omission subjecting the insurer to liability for breach of the duty to defend is the actual failure to defend. This is illustrated by the circumstance that, when an insurer ostensibly accepts a tender, but fails to actually provide a defense, it does not avoid liability for breaching the duty to

defend. See Ledcor (USA), Inc. v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 150 Wn. App. 1, 9, 206 P.3d 1255 (2009) (holding insurer's acceptance of tender without taking further action in defense of insured was bad faith). Thus, in that circumstance, it is the providing of a defense that is the last act necessary to avoid liability. Id. In short, it is the performance or non-performance of the duty to defend in Washington that is the last act or omission that respectively avoids or incurs liability for breach of the duty to defend. Id. This is entirely consistent with the federal authorities cited supra at 12-14.

For example, the <u>Travelers</u> court ruled "the conduct causing injury" was the insurer's failure to defend, and that was in Washington, the state where the case to be defended was pending. <u>Travelers</u>, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 134189 *23-24.

This is consistent with other cases in the Western District. <u>See Hawthorne</u>, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119891, *10 ("in the context of a failure to defend or indemnify, the state where the insured is sued has the 'most significant relationship' to the bad

faith and CPA claims that result."); TekVisions, Inc. v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., No. 16-1946-RAJ, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91583 *10; 2017 WL 2574022 (W.D. Wash. June 13, 2017) ("the wrongful conduct that TekVisions alleges in its complaint relates to Washington because it is where Microsoft filed the lawsuit that Hartford refused to defend."); Tilden-Coil Constructors, Inc. v. Landmark Am. Ins. Co., 721 F. Supp. 2d 1007, 1015-16 (W.D. Wash. 2010) (ruling that Washington had the most significant relationship to bad faith and CPA claims arising from a breach of the duty to defend against a suit in Washington); Aecon Bldgs., Inc. v. Zurich N. Am., No. C07-832-MJP, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 112747 (W.D. Wash. March 20, 2008) ("Defendants' alleged violation of Washington's insurance regulations and its obligation of good faith and fair dealing also occurred in Washington.").

Even if it were correct that claims handling activities outside Washington were the injury causing conduct for purposes of the Restatement, which Coronus disputes, it would

be entitled to little weight.

It was to Underwriters and CFC in the U.K. that Coronus tendered, provided a copy of the underlying complaint, and corresponded to no avail prior to the assignment of further claims handling to Schrieffer in California. CP 488-501. The only communication from CFC was an acknowledgement email dated July 16, 2018. CP 496. Coronus counsel reached out to CFC on August 28, 2018, approximately six weeks later, noting prior attempts to reach it and CFC's violations of Washington insurance regulations. CP 498. Thus, Coronus had an accrued CPA claim against Underwriters as of August 28, 2018, based solely on claims handling activities between Washington and the U.K., not California. See St. Paul Fire Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc., 165 Wn.2d 122, 129, 196 P.3d 664 (2008) ("This court long ago recognized that a single violation of a claimshandling regulation may violate the CPA."), citing Indus. Indem. Co. of the Nw., Inc. v. Kallevig, 114 Wn.2d 907, 921, 792 P.2d 520 (1990).

Underwriters assigned a California firm to assert

California law applied to the tort claims only <u>after</u> Coronus

already asserted violations of Washington law by claims

handlers in the U.K. <u>Compare</u> CP 498 <u>with</u> CP 502. Thus, even

were the location of the claims handling personnel the pertinent
inquiry for the conduct causing injury, the location of the

claims handlers in California is entitled to little or no weight.

In sum, the Court of Appeals decision that no conduct causing injury occurred in Washington is contrary to decisions of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(1).

c. The Domicile, Residence, Nationality, Place of Incorporation, and Place of Business of the Parties is Entitled to Little Weight.

The third factor under Restatement § 145(2)(c), the domicile, residence, nationality, place of incorporation, and place of business of the parties is entitled to little weight where, as here, the place of injury and conduct causing injury are both in Washington.

Coronus is incorporated in Wyoming. CP 556-63.

Coronus is headquartered in California. CP 365. Matthew Aarsvold is a resident of Minnesota. CP 364-65; CP 370; CP 454-56. Although Underwriters is organized in the U.K., there is nothing in the record regarding the domicile of any of the "Certain Underwriters" on the policy. CP 463.

As stated in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of laws, § 145, comment e:

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