FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/20/2023 2:21 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101913-1 Court of Appeals No. 83078-3-I

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CORONUS XES LTD. and MATTHEW AARSVOLD,

Petitioners,

v.

CERTAIN UNDERWRITERS AT LLOYD'S, LONDON, SUBSCRIBING TO POLICY NO. ESG00317241 with Unique Market References B087517C9N5007 and B1161LS12017, an unincorporated foreign insurance syndicate,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

J.C. Ditzler, WSBA No. 19209
Jonathan Toren, WSBA No. 46896
COZEN O'CONNOR
999 Third Avenue, Suite 1900
Seattle, Washington 98104
Telephone: 206.340.1000
jditzler@cozen.com
jtoren@cozen.com

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

By fixating on certain factors within the conflict of law analysis, which is relevant to only one of several forum-non-conveniens factors, Coronus attempted to convert the standard of review to de novo, and attempts to do so again in its Petition here. Coronus also contends, without any explanation or citation, that the Court of Appeals conflict-of-law analysis was "fundamental" to its decision.

It was not. Any alleged error of law committed on one point in the context of a larger, discretionary analysis merely serves as one potential "untenable reason" that **could** support an abuse of discretion, if other "tenable reasons" are lacking.

Farmer v. Farmer, 172 Wn.2d 616, 625, 259 P.3d 256 (2011). Even if a trial court made one error of law in the context of a discretionary ruling that was still supported by other factors and within the "range of acceptable choices," there is no abuse of discretion, and the ruling stands. See, e.g., In re Marriage of Pilant, 42 Wn. App. 173, 181, 709 P.2d 1241 (1985).

Here, the trial court did not issue a distinct ruling on choice of law, nor did it decide any issue of law on which there was a conflict between different states. Rather, it identified the applicable law for future issues as it bears on which forum is likely to be more "at home with the state law that must govern" that case for purposes of forum non conveniens. *J.H. Baxter & Co. v. Cent. Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha*, 105 Wn. App. 657, 662, 20 P.3d 967 (2001). The Superior Court found that California law would govern the entire case. CP 830-32. This factor, among several others, weighed in favor of dismissal, supporting the trial court's discretionary ruling. CP 834. The Court of Appeals agreed. A-010-14.

Even if the Petition's arguments regarding certain conflictof-law factors had any merit—which they do not—they would
not impact the overall discretionary analysis of the forum-nonconveniens ruling. Indeed, even as to the "at home with the state
law" factor, Coronus did not dispute that California law applied
to the contract issues, which include the issues of actual coverage
and whether a duty to defend attached. CP 356. Thus, the choice
of law issue disputed on appeal represented only part of one
factor, which was itself only one of multiple "public interest"
factors, which themselves represented only part of the court's
discretionary factor-weighing exercise.

- B. The Court of Appeals Properly Found California to be the "Place of Injury" and "Place of Conduct Causing Injury."
 - 1. <u>Coronus was allegedly injured where it is located—</u> California.

Coronus' Petition first criticizes the Court of Appeals' analysis of the related factors of place of injury and place of the conduct causing the injury. Petition, pp. 11-20. Coronus relies on a general statement in a factually dissimilar case—that an injury

"occurs" in Washington if the "last event necessary to make the defendant liable for the alleged tort occurred in Washington"— as somehow supportive of the Petition. *See Harbison v. Garden Valley Outfitters*, 60 Wn. App. 590, 598, 849 P.2d 669 (1993) (involving long-arm jurisdiction over an Idaho hunting outfitter).

Coronus fails to identify any genuine, specific conflict between this general principle and the Court of Appeals' opinion. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals found persuasive the simple logic of Judge Robart that "when an insurance company acts in bad faith or violates IFCA or CPA, its insured will experience that injury where the insured is located." A-013 (quoting MKB Constructors v. Am. Zurich Ins. Co., 49 F. Supp. 3d 814, 833 (W.D. Wash. 2014)). Parsing the "last event" does not alter where the insured is located, and accordingly, where it is injured.

Coronus focus on federal court decisions involving liability insurance that have applied the law of the state where the underlying lawsuit was filed. But others have applied the law

of the insured's home state, for reasons that apply more strongly here. See Tilden-Coil Constructors, Inc. v. Landmark Am. Ins. Co., 721 F. Supp. 2d 1007, 1011 (W.D. Wash. 2010); Milgard Mfg., Inc. v. Illinois Union Ins. Co., C10-5943 RJB, 2011 WL 3298912, at *8 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 1, 2011); Insurance Auto Auctions, Inc. v. Indian Harbor Ins. Co., No. CO9-1522RAJ, 2010 WL 11688494, at *7 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 16, 2010). The Court of Appeals aptly observed that one common thread of the federal decisions is whether a judgment against the insured was entered in the underlying case. A-013. As an alternative basis, Tilden-Coil observed a common thread that the "place of injury and place of conduct ... are of less significance where, as here, the alleged injury did not occur in a single, ascertainable state, as with personal injuries and injuries to tangible things." 721 F. Supp. 2d at 1011. Here, as in *Tilden-Coil*, the underlying complaint did not involve any personal injury or damage to tangible property that occurred in Washington.

2. The alleged negligent claims-handling occurred in California or the UK, not Washington.

Coronus argues, in Section E.2.b., that the "conduct causing injury was the failure to defend in Washington." Coronus also points out that Underwriters declined to pay defense costs incurred by Washington legal professionals—even though it was Coronus that was injured in California by having to *pay* those professionals. Regardless, this argument is nothing but misdirection. Once again, Coronus has **conceded throughout this litigation that the question of whether Underwriters breached the duty to defend is governed by California law**.

In that regard, the Court should note the primary conflict between California and Washington law that this dispute anticipates. Washington allows recovery of damages caused by negligent claims handling, even in the absence of actual coverage. *See Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 122, 132, 196 P.3d 664 (2008). California does not. *Waller v. Truck Ins. Exch., Inc.*, 900 P.2d 619, 639 (Cal. 1995). Moreover, even

in Washington, Coronus could not recover its underlying defense costs as damages for negligent claims-handling. *See Onvia*, 165 Wn.2d at 133. In either California or Washington, Coronus could only recover its underlying defense costs if it were to somehow establish that Underwriters breached the duty to defend—an issue undisputedly governed by California law. Thus, the conflict concerns only recoverability of damages specifically caused by negligent claims handling, *not* Underwriters' failure to defend or liability for defense costs.

This potential standalone "procedural bad faith" claim represents Coronus' obvious motivation for forum-shopping in Washington State, all the way to this Court, rather than simply file suit in its home state of California. Underwriters issued the Policy in 2017-2018 to cover certain tech liability associated with QX's software development business for "clients." CP 460-87. The Webb TPC (CP 214 *et seq.*) does not even mention any software business. It concerns alleged financial misconduct by Aarsvold in 2016 when Aarsvold was employed by non-insured

Glomad and served as an outside executive for non-insured Higher Upstream. CP 226-27; 235-36. Higher Upstream could not possibly have been a "client" of either QX or Coronus, which did not even exist during the relevant time period. CP 519-24. Even once Coronus did exist, it still never did any work for QX or Coronus. CP 818. Nor does the Webb TPC contain anything resembling even the types of claims covered under the Policy's insuring clauses. See Respondent's Brief, pp. 26-30. In short, the Policy does not even contain anything resembling the right type of coverage, nor was it in effect during the relevant time period. Coronus's insurance claim was akin to seeking coverage for a 2018 auto accident under a 2016 homeowners policy.

Despite having no conceivable basis for coverage, Coronus hired Washington coverage counsel to exchange letters and document requests with Underwriters, and then used this exchange to manufacture "procedural bad faith" claims based on alleged delays and burdensome requests. Then, in its pleadings and briefs, Coronus barely even attempted to state any basis for

its claim that Underwriters should have provided a defense—because none exists. Rather, Coronus focused on its interactions with Underwriters and their California coverage counsel. Those interactions were between Underwriters' California counsel and California-based Coronus.

Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly found that this contact "favors California as that is where Underwriters counsel investigated and denied coverage to Coronus," according to Coronus' own allegations. A-014.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the Choice of Law Clause to Coronus' Tort and CPA Claims

1. The Court of Appeals' application of the choice of law clause was consistent with longstanding Washington precedent

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Policy's Choice of Law clause favors application of California law to this entire case.

As this Court held over 35 years ago, "[a]lthough a choice of law provision in a contract does not govern tort claims arising out of the contract, it may be considered as an element in the

w. Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 159 (1987). "To determine whether the parties intended the choice-of-law clause to cover the tort and CPA claims, the Court must focus on the objective manifestations of their agreement" as reflected in the contract. Washington Land Dev., LLC v. Lloyds TSB Bank, PLC, No. C14-0179-JCC, 2014 WL 3563292, at *5 (W.D. Wash. July 18, 2014).

The clause here plainly reflects an intent that California law should apply to this lawsuit in its entirety. This entire lawsuit is a "dispute between [Coronus] and [Underwriters] regarding this Policy." The Policy's broad choice-of-law clause is similar to those applying to claims "arising out of" the contract and stands in contrast to clauses limited to construction of the contract terms. *See*, *e.g.*, *In re McGraw-Hill Glob. Educ. Holdings LLC*, 909 F.3d 48, 68 (3d Cir. 2018) (holding that choice of venue clause as to disputes "regarding" the contract applied to related non-contract claims).

Washington "bad faith" tort and CPA claims, while they do not sound in contract, wholly arise from and depend on the fiduciary relationship created by the insurance contract. Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 385, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). This Court has held that, for this reason, only a party to the insurance contract may bring such claims. *Id.* at 394; Keodalah v. Allstate Ins. Co., 194 Wn.2d 339, 351, 449 P.3d 1040 (2019). The Washington Supreme Court has specifically acknowledged that the tort of insurance bad faith is an exception to the "economic loss rule," allowing for recovery of economic though they **do** "arise from even contractual relationships." Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Found, Inc., 170 Wn. 2d 380, 388, 241 P.3d 1256 (2010). Coronus' tort and CPA claims are not contract claims, but they do arise from the contract, and this lawsuit as a whole is clearly a "dispute regarding [the] Policy." Indeed, the Court of Appeals' analysis was particularly apt when considering the nature of the tort and CPA claims in this particular case, which all concern Underwriters' investigation of their duty to defend—itself an analysis of coverage under the Policy.

Coronus does not even attempt to identify a conflict between the Court of Appeals' analysis of the choice-of-law clause and published case law. Rather, Coronus argues, without support, that it was "improper" to apply Haberman to insurance policies. But there was nothing new (and certainly nothing "improper") about the Court of Appeals' opinion. For example, in Insurance Auto Auctions, Inc. v. Indian Harbor Ins. Co., No. CO9-1522RAJ, 2010 WL 11688494, at *7 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 16, 2010), Judge Jones held that a choice of law clause in favor of New York law was enforceable and applied it to dismiss the plaintiff's Washington-based claims of bad faith and violations of IFCA and CPA. Coronus has cited no case law limiting a similarly-worded clause, in either insurance policies or other contracts, to contract-law claims only.

2. <u>The Choice of Law Clause need not have been separately "negotiated" to be enforceable</u>

The Petition suggests that since the Policy was written on "standard forms," and there is no "evidence" that the choice of law clause was specifically "negotiated," it is not enforceable. Coronus is wrong, on at least two levels. First, the Policy's designation of California is not a "standard" term, and it is not embedded in the policy form. It is an insured-specific designation within the Declarations page for this particular Policy. CP 464. Nothing could have been unexpected about this designation, given that the Policy was issued there to a California-based business.

Second, it is axiomatic that "[i]nsurance policies are contracts," and Washington courts "will enforce an insurance contract as written if the contract is clear and unambiguous." *Sharbono v. Universal Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 139 Wn. App. 383, 394, 161 P.3d 406 (2007). As a term within a binding contract, it is part of the parties' bargain. There is no requirement that an

insurer (or insured) produce "evidence" of specific, separate "negotiation" of a policy term for that term to be enforceable.

3. <u>Coronus' position finds no support in the RCW's</u> "Scope of Code" provision.

The "Scope of Code" provision cited by Coronus is similarly irrelevant. That provision merely states the general scope of the insurance code, which covers insurance transactions "affecting subjects located" in Washington. It has nothing to do with the analysis of Washington's "local interest" relative to another state's interest in a lawsuit for purposes of forum non conveniens *or* conflicts of law, and certainly does not invalidate choice-of-law clauses contained within policies issued *in other* states. The Policy here was issued in California to cover "subjects located" primarily in California. See RCW 48.01.020. By Coronus' own admission, the Policy was not issued to cover any Washington operations, as there never were any such operations.

There is a Washington statute invalidating choice of law clauses in policies *issued in Washington* that provide for

application of another state's laws. See RCW 48.18.200. However, no such statute or public policy rule has ever been extended to policies issued in other states. One federal case has soundly rejected such an argument. See Karpenski v. Am. Gen. Life Companies, LLC, 999 F. Supp. 2d 1218, 1232 (W.D. Wash. 2014). Indeed, such a rule would be manifestly unreasonable and would actually violate the spirit of the statute. Consistent with that spirit, the choice of law clause here provides for application of the law of the state where the Policy was issued; that is, California.

In that regard, overriding the Choice of Law clause would also violate the "the protection of justified expectations" and "certainty, predictability and uniformity of result," under Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws § 6(d) and (f). Washington courts have held that where a policy is issued in a state and is expected to cover operations based in or located primarily in that state, the parties' "justified expectations" are that this same state's law will apply to their relationship

generally, including tort claims, especially when the parties expressly agreed to application of that state's law in the insurance contract. *See Milgard*, 2011 WL 3298912, at *8; *Tilden-Coil*, 721 F. Supp. 2d at 1016; *Polygon Nw. Co. v. Nat'l Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, C11-92Z, 2011 WL 2020749, at *6 n.10 (W.D. Wash. May 24, 2011) (finding, for purposes of Section 6, that parties expected Oregon law to apply because the policy was purchased there through an Oregon broker with respect to operations located primarily in Oregon).

Until Coronus retained Washington coverage counsel in an attempt to manufacture some liability when the Policy itself provided none, the parties' expectation was clearly that California law would govern any dispute, as stated in the Policy's Declarations. Having that single state's law control any dispute provides "certainty, predictability and uniformity of result" to the respective rights, obligations and liabilities of Underwriters and their insureds throughout their relationship.

V. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.

The undersigned certifies that the present brief is 4,947 words of text in compliance with RAP 18.17(c)(10).